1978

Salt Lake County v. Murray City Redevelopment et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action contesting the validity of the adoption of a plan for redevelopment by the defendants-respondents pursuant to the Utah Neighborhood Development Act and challenges the validity of the Murray City Ordinance enacted to implement said Utah Neighborhood Development Act; alternatively requiring that the defendants-respondents redraw their project area to conform with the requirements of the Utah Neighborhood Development Act, and finally, to contest the constitutionality of the Utah Neighborhood Development Act.

and as such, derives a substantial portion of its revenues from the *ad valorem* property tax. Murray City is a body corporate and politic and lies wholly within the boundaries of Salt Lake County, State of Utah.

On July 20, 1976, the Board of Commissioners of Murray City caused to be published in the Murray Eagle, a weekly newspaper located in the city of Murray, a Notice thereby notifying all residents of Murray City that Murray City had established a redevelopment agency and had adopted, pursuant to the Utah Neighborhood Development Act, Utah Code Annotated, Section 11-19-1, *et. seq.*, 1953 as amended, a redevelopment project area. Said Notice further described the project area designated for redevelopment. (T-227) The record does not indicate any additional notice or publication in the Murray Eagle with regard to the proposed project area.

On August 27, August 31, 1976, and September 2 and September 6, 1976, said City Commission caused to be published in the Salt Lake Tribune, a daily newspaper, a Notice to all residents of Murray City, Utah, and in particular those persons residing within the limits of a specified area, that the Board of Commissioners of Murray City had established a redevelopment agency and had adopted, pursuant to Utah Neighborhood Development Act, Utah Code

Annotated, Section 11-19-1, *et. seq.*, 1953 as amended, a redevelopment project area and then described said project area within said Notice. There appears in the record no other publication or notification in the Salt Lake City Tribune. (T-228)

On the 8th day of September, 1976, the Board of Commissioners of Murray City adopted Ordinance Number 453 and, thereby, attempted to implement the redevelopment project referred to in the one-time publication in the Murray Eagle and the subsequent publication of notice four times in the Salt Lake Tribune in the period of eleven days. (T-13-15) Section 11-19-16, Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended, 1971, reads in part as follows:

"Notice of the public hearing on a project area redevelopment plan shall be given by publication not less than once a week for four successive weeks in a newspaper of general circulation published in the County in which the land lies. . ."

On the 8th day of October, 1976, plaintiff-appellant filed a Complaint in the District Court of Salt Lake County, State of Utah, attacking the purported redevelopment project on several grounds. The Complaint raised constitutional objections to certain provisions of the Utah Neighborhood Development Act; asserted that the Murray City Ordinance Number 453 was in violation of the Utah Neighborhood Development Act, in that it had not been

adopted in accordance with the requirements of said Act, and, therefore, null, void and with no effect, and finally, sought alternative relief in the form of requiring that Murray City redraw its project area limits to bring the project area into conformance with the requirements of the Utah Neighborhood Development Act, and in particular, Sections 11-19-9 and 11-19-2(10), Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended, 1971. (T 2-12)

Plaintiff-appellant's Complaint raised numerous objections to the plan as adopted in its First Cause of Action and the Second, Third, Fourth and Fifth Causes of Action raised constitutional objections to the Utah Neighborhood Development Act as it was to factually apply to Salt Lake County. (T 2-12)

Inasmuch as Summary Judgment was granted in favor of the defendants-respondents, the factual assertions made in plaintiff-appellant's Complaint and as subsequently developed through discovery, are to be considered in the light most favorable to the party moved against, in this case, plaintiff-appellant.

The Utah Neighborhood Development Act at Section 11-19-21, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, 1971, requires that the ordinance promulgating a project area contain (among other things):

"(5) The findings and determinations of the Legislative body based upon fact that (a) is a blighted area, the redevelopment of which is necessary to effectuate the public purposes declared in this act . . . (emphasis added)

Murray City Ordinance Number 453 purporting to establish two project areas fails wholly and completely to provide findings and determinations based upon fact that the project areas are blighted areas. The determinations found in the plan are entirely conclusionary. There is no actual adequate factual basis for a finding of blight by the City Commission. At page 12 of said Plan, it is declared

that 5.31 percent of the buildings or structures in the project area are unfit for use and must be demolished. That figure is disputed by other evidence in the record below. Further, that figure does not come from an independent investigation of Murray City with regard to ascertaining the factual basis upon which to adopt such a project, but is the result of a different study taken for a different purpose entitled the Murray Core Area District Revitalization Plan, published in 1974, which Core Area study is a part of the record of these proceedings. Further, the area actually surveyed in 1974 for the revitalization plan from which the purported statistics for the redevelopment plan were taken constituted only a small fraction of the two project areas, which the Murray Redevelopment Agency attempts to support with the statistics contained in the revitalization plan. Further, the Revitalization Plan that was subsequently seized upon by Murray City as a basis for implementing the Neighborhood Development Plan, did not relate to all types of buildings in the project area, but related only to commercial buildings and, thereby, did not relate a vast majority of the structures in the two project areas subsequently adopted. Therefore, the facts clearly demonstrate that the percentage of buildings in the two project areas that are unfit or unsafe for occupancy must be substantially less than 5 percent.

Plaintiff-appellant in its Complaint and subsequent motions and memoranda asserted that such a small percentage is not sufficient characterization of blight to permit the establishment of a project area under the Utah Neighborhood Development Act. The Ordinance and the Plan of redevelopment contains no finding of ill health in either of the project areas. Nor does the Ordinance and Plan indicate that there are more cases of ill health in either of the project areas than in Murray City as a whole. Nor does the Ordinance or Plan contain any indication that there is more ill health resulting from the condition of buildings or other conditions in the project area. Neither the Ordinance nor the Plan contains any reference whatsoever to infant mortality or of greater infant mortality in the proposed project areas than in Murray City as a whole or to an increase in infant mortality due to the condition of the buildings or any other conditions in the proposed project areas. Neither the Ordinance nor the Plan contains any reference whatsoever to juvenile delinquency or of greater juvenile delinquency in the project areas than in Murray City as a whole, or to an increase in juvenile delinquency due to the condition of buildings or any other condition in the project areas. Neither the Ordinance nor the Plan contains any reference whatsoever to crime, or that there is more crime in the project areas than in Murray City

as a whole or that there is an increase in crime due to the condition of buildings or any other condition in the project areas.

Neither the Ordinance nor the Plan contains any showing whatever that the project areas adopted have been restricted to buildings, improvements, or lands which are detrimental or inimical to the public health, safety, or welfare. The preliminary plan of redevelopment and the finally adopted plan does not contain a statement of the land uses, population densities or building intensities as required by 11-19-11(2), Utah Code Annotated, 1953. Page 14 of said Plan item (5) (b) of the Plan states as follows:

"Planning criteria has not specifically been set forth in the plan relative to land uses, densities, characteristics of internal circulation systems and need and type of public improvements in order to provide maximum flexibility in the development of acquired land and to achieve the highest quality development that is consistent with the city's long-range plans for redevelopment of the Central Business District."
(emphasis added)

The Plan of redevelopment does not contain a statement of the standards proposed as the basis for the redevelopment of the project area; the Plan does not show how the purposes of the Utah Neighborhood Development Act would be attained by such redevelopment, as required by the statutes.

The Plan does not show that the proposed redevelopment conforms to the master or general community plan as required by statute.

Plaintiff-appellant's discovery indicates that there is, in fact, no master plan.

Plaintiff-appellant's discovery and the deposition process and response for Request for Production of Documents demonstrates that there is no reliable information as to an increased incidence of ill-health, transmission of disease, infant mortality or juvenile delinquency in the project areas.

The testimony of Vaughn Soffe, former Mayor of Murray City and Chairman of the Murray City Redevelopment Agency, illustrates the dearth of Murray City fact finding as to blight. His deposition in summary demonstrates that the Murray City Commission relied heavily upon the study provided by the Murray Core Area Downtown District Revitalization Plan published in 1974, and upon complaints from Murray businessmen that they were having economic difficulties in the area known as the Central Business District. Mayor Soffe was unable to point to any factual evidence of blight, of studies of physical or social conditions which conclude blight, or even official opinions by County Health Officers showing a higher rate of disease or infant mortality in the project areas than elsewhere in the City of Murray. He did allude to another study in his deposition, however, the

defendant City in response to discovery motions and questioning did not produce any other study. Indications are that the "other study" referred to by Mayor Soffe may have been incorporated in the Murray Core Area Downtown District Revitalization Plan. The presumed study does not deal with statutory determinations of blight. (Vaughn Soffe, D 442-452)

The deposition of James Ivan Watts, Executive Director of the Murray City Redevelopment Agency, further demonstrates the lack of findings of fact by Murray City as to the existence of blight, and demonstrates that there were no findings of ill-health, transmission of disease, infant mortality or juvenile delinquency. That there were no studies and were no opinions obtained from the appropriate authorities as to the presence of statutorily defined blight. Mr. Watts' deposition further indicates that a study was, in fact, conducted concerning the incidents of crime, which study was conducted after the plan of redevelopment was written. (James Ivan Watts, deposition dated November 28, 1977, 27-30)

In his deposition, Charles Clay, Murray City Engineer, gives further evidence that Murray City had not established a factual basis for a determination of statutorily defined blight. He indicated that he had been the City Engineer for Murray City since 1974, that he had

never done a survey to determine how many or which buildings in Murray were unfit or unsafe to occupy, and he has in his capacity as City Engineer commenced legal proceedings to abate as dangerous only approximately 10 buildings over the past 4 1/2 years in the entire corporate limits of the City of Murray. (Charles Clay, D 284-291)

The Murray Core Area Revitalization Plan referred to Mayor Soffe and Mr. Watts contains no discussion whatever of ill-health, transmission of disease, juvenile delinquency, infant mortality or crime either in Murray City as a whole or as generated by any condition whatsoever in the area comprising the two project areas. The 1974 Revitalization Plan does contain statistics as to buildings which are beyond rehabilitation; however, those statistics are in variance with those included in City Ordinance Number 453 and the Redevelopment Plan. All of the structural condition statistics in the 1974 Revitalization Plan relate to a small area on both sides of State Street from 4800 South Street to First Avenue, approximately 5050 South, and have nothing to do with the majority of project area number 1, and nothing to do whatever with project area number 2. Murray City Ordinance Number 453 utilizes one plan, but makes reference to two separate redevelopment project areas, that is, project areas Number 1 and Number 2. The legal descriptions describing area number 1 and area number 2 contained in the

notice of project area and in Ordinance Number 453 are the same. Project area Number 1, the eastern boundary, applies only to the "commercial properties fronting on the east side of State Street". This description excludes all residential property fronting on the east side of State Street and any other non-commercial property, such as the Murray City Park, the Arlington School and the National Guard Armory. It would also exclude all commercial property in the immediate vicinity not fronting on State Street. The testimony of James Watts was that the intended project area was that of the "commercially zoned" property fronting on State Street rather than the "commercial properties fronting on the east side of State Street". Such a description, had it been used, would have included non-commercial properties fronting on State Street, but still would not have included commercially zoned properties in the immediate vicinity not fronting on State Street. (James Watts deposition November 28, 1977, D-490) The defendants-respondents do not have a master plan. Defendant-respondents, in response to plaintiff-appellant's discovery motions and through the depositions of the various witnesses, have failed to substantiate and, in fact, turn over a master plan that includes requirements of Section 11-19-5, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended 1971. There is no plan showing the general location and extent of existing and

proposed major thoroughfares, transportation routes, terminals and other major public utilities and facilities. There is no master plan showing a land use plan which designates the proposed distribution and general location and extent of the use of the land for housing, business, industry, recreation, education, public buildings and grounds and other categories of public and private use of land. There is no master plan containing a statement of the standards of population density and building intensity recommended for the various districts and other territorial units and estimates of future population growth in the territory covered by the plan, which have been all correlated with a land use plan. There is no master plan containing maps, plans, charts or other descriptive matter of showing the areas in which conditions are found indicating the existence of blighted areas. The proposed redevelopment project purportedly adopted by Murray City contains no plan for the relocation of families, although there is some documented statement to the effect that there are five families within the area that need relocation.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE THE DEFENDANTS FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE NOTICE REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 11-19-16, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953, AS AMENDED, LEFT THE MURRAY CITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY AND MURRAY CITY WITHOUT JURISDICTION TO ADOPT THE PROJECT AREA REDEVELOPMENT PLAN.

Section 11-19-16, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, 1971, reads, in part, as follows:

"Notice of public hearing-Contents. Notice of the public hearing on a project area redevelopment plan shall be given by publication not less than once a week for four successive weeks in a newspaper of general circulation published in the county in which the land is" (emphasis added)

The initial publication of the proposed project area occurred on July 20, 1976, in the Murray Eagle. Publication in that paper occurred only on that day. There were no subsequent publications in the Murray Eagle. The requirements of Section 11-19-16, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, of four successive weekly publications were not met by the one-time publication of July 20, 1976.

Thirty-seven days later, another attempt was made by the defendants to comply with the requirements of Section 11-19-16, Utah Code Annotated, 1953. Again, they failed to comply with the statutory notice. The second attempt at publication commenced on Friday, August

27, 1976. Four days later, on Tuesday, the 31st day of August, notice was again published. During that same week, two days later, on Thursday, the 2nd of September, 1976, notice was again published. Final publication took place four days later on Monday, the 6th day of September. Therefore, the statutory notice that is a condition precedent to the valid adoption of the project area by the defendants-respondents was not given. They did not publish for four successive weeks. This Court in In Re Phillips Estate, 44 P.2d 699 (1935) set forth the meaning of successive publication.

"Successive weeks" . . . "means successive weeks commencing with a Sunday after the first week commencing with a Sunday in which the first publication appeared."

supra, at page 704

Applying the standards set forth by this Court in Phillips, the defendants-respondents' notice, at best, was only three successive weeks rather than the jurisdictional four required by statute.

It is generally held that an ordinance, to be effective, must be published as required by law and an ordinance that is not published in accordance with the requirements is void. See 56 Am Jur 2d, Municipal Corporations §350. Thus, if the statute requires publication as a condition precedent to an enactment

thereunder and it is never properly published, the enactment never goes into effect. 56 Am Jur 2d, Municipal Corporation §351.

In Hart, et. al.v. Bayless Investment & Trading Company, 346 P.2d 1101 (1959), the plaintiff was questioning the validity of a zoning ordinance that had been in effect for many years. The plaintiff asserted that certain ordinances were of no force and effect because the requisite notice of hearings before the zoning commission and board of supervisors had not been given. The lower court agreed with the plaintiff and on appeal, the Supreme Court of Arizona affirmed, in part. In reaching its decision, the Court made the following observations:

"By the Zoning Act, certain authority was conferred upon the Board, but subject to those express conditions imposed by the same Act. An attempted exercise of that authority without compliance with the statutory conditions precedent is utterly void and of no effect."

at page 1105

By the Utah Neighborhood Development Act, certain authority was conferred upon the legislative body of a community to establish a redevelopment agency and adopt projects. One of the express conditions of that grant of authority is the Notice requirements found in Section 11-19-16. The

defendants-respondents failed to comply with the statutory conditions precedent by not publishing for four successive weeks. Therefore, the proposed project for redevelopment like the zoning ordinances in the Hart case, are of no effect.

The Court, in Hart, went on to say:

"This Court has held that, where a jurisdictional notice is required to be given in a certain manner, any means other than that prescribed is ineffective. See Yuma County v. Arizona Edison Co., 65 Ariz. 332, 180 P.2d 868. This is so even though the intended recipient of that notice does in fact acquire the knowledge contemplated by the law. Such a rule is no mere "legal technicality"; rather it is a fundamental safeguard assuring each citizen that he will be afforded due process of law. Nor may the requirement be relaxed merely because of a showing that certain complaining parties did have actual notice of the proceeding. We hold the evidence amply sustains the trial court's finding and legal conclusion that the Board failed to comply with the statute in that it did not give the requisite official notice in a daily newspaper."

In the case of Hopper v. Board of County Commissioners, 506 P.2d 348 (1973), the Court of Appeals of New Mexico was confronted with the validity of certain zoning ordinances passed by the defendant county commission without compliance with the statutory requirement of publication. The Court held the zoning ordinances

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