1978

Salt Lake County v. Murray City Redevelopment et al : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN GRANTING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE DEFENDANT'S PUBLICATION OF NOTICE WAS IN SUBSTANTIAL COMPLIANCE WITH THE NOTICE REQUIREMENTS OF THE UTAH NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT ACT.

Affidavits of publication show that defendants-respondents gave notice to the public of the hearing to be held in September, 1976 concerning the redevelopment plan, by publication on five different dates, to-wit: on July 20, 1976 in the Murray Eagle and on August 27, 1976, August 31, 1976, September 2, 1976 and on September 6, 1976 in the Salt Lake Tribune. Notice, therefore, appeared on five days, over a period of seven weeks. Defendants-respondents respectfully submit that the notice thereby made was in substantial compliance with the notice requirements of section 11-19-16.

In Hopper v. Board of County Commissioners, 506 P. 2d 348 (1973), a case on which plaintiff-appellant relies, the New Mexico court says: ". . . failure to publish substantially in the manner prescribed has the result that the ordinance was never validly adopted." (at page 351) (emphasis added). In that case, where the statute required the publication of the full text of the zoning ordinance, the court found that publication of only two of the text's twenty-two sections was not a substantial compliance with the statutory requirements and therefore the ordinance had

not been validly adopted.

However, it has been held that what constitutes "substantial compliance" is properly for the trial court to determine. Gustine City v. Silveira, 154 P.2d 474, (Calif. 1945). In Beck v. Ransome-Crummey Co., 42 Cal App. 674, 184 P.431 (Calif. 1919), the California court states:

"If, either in the summons or in the resolution, there is not an entire omission of a statutory requirement, but merely a defect, a court may properly determine there has or has not been a substantial compliance with the statute dependent upon the facts of the particular case. . . . This judgment of what is a substantial compliance with the statute is to be exercised in the first instance by the trial court. If the case is one where a requirement of the statute has not been entirely disregarded, its [the trial court's] determination of the question of substantial compliance ought to be controlling in the absence of an abuse of discretion". (at page 434)

In the case sub judice, while the issue of notice was never properly before the court (since it did not appear in the initial complaint and that complaint was never amended to include that issue) to the extent that the trial court may have considered the issue as it was raised by plaintiff-appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment, it must be inferred from the denial of plaintiff-appellant's motion that the trial court had determined that the notice given by defendants-respondents on five occasions prior to the hearing constituted compliance with the notice requirements of section 11-19-16

of the Utah Neighborhood Development Act.

It should be noted that in Hart et al. v. Bayless Investment and Trading Co., 346 P.2d 1101 (Ariz. 1959), a case also relied upon by plaintiff-appellant, the facts in that case are in striking contrast to the facts in this case. In Hart, the failure to comply with the notice and hearing provisions of the Arizona Zoning Act was of such an extensive nature as to constitute a gross violation of the statutory mandate. In that case, the adoption of a zoning ordinance required two prior hearings, one before the Zoning Commission to be followed, along with the Zoning Commission's recommendations, be a second hearing before the Board of Supervisors. Each hearing was required to be preceded by "at least 15 days notice thereof by publication in a newspaper of general circulation in the county seat". Among a number of other defects charged, the most outstanding is described by the court:

"We can find no record or any formal notice of hearing given, or that a public hearing was actually held, or that a recommended ordinance was referred to the Board". (at page 1106).

Plainly, the facts of Hart indicate a gross failure of comppliance with the statutory notice requirement and therefore Hart is readily distinguishable from our case. Also, see:

Feldhake v. City of Sante Fe, 300P.2d 934;
Dewitz v. Joyce-Pruitt Co., 20 N.M. 572, 151 P.2d 100;
DeGraftenreid v. Casaus, 26 N.M. 216, 190 P.2d 728;
City of Alamogordo v. McGee, 64 N.M. 253, 327 P.2d 321 (1958);
Hughes v. City of Carlsbad, 53 N.M. 150, 203 P.2d 995 (1949).

The final statement on this point is that it was not raised and has not been properly raised in the plaintiff's complaint; no issue has not been made an issue in this suit by amendment. There has not been even an attempt to amend and include this issue as part of the suit and the court is now powerless to review the same under the provisions of section 11-19-20, Utah Code Annotated, 1953 (as amended). There has been no showing that plaintiff was without sufficient information relating to publication of notice at the time the action was commenced, to enable it to have included that issue initially. Indeed, the very nature of the issue would have required attention at that time.

The scope of review by the trial court was limited to the "substantial evidence" test. Defendant's first memorandum, Point B, discusses this issue in greater detail. There has been no showing that the trial court misapplied this rule and in fact, the court's decision is in keeping with the line of cases on this point as it relates to the redevelopment process.

See: Redevelopment Agency v. Hayes, 122 Cal. App. 2d 777, 266 P.2d 105 (1954); In Redevelopment Plan for Bunker Hill, 61 Cal. 2d, 21, 289 P.2d 538;
McQuillan, Municipal Corporations, Volume 2, Section 10.36

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN GRANTING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE THE DETERMINATION OF BLIGHT WAS PROPERLY MADE BY THE REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY AND BY THE MURRAY CITY COMMISSION AND WAS IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE UTAH NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT ACT.

In its entirety, the definition of "blighted area" is stated in section 11-19-2(10) as follows:

"The words 'blighted area' are characterized by the existence of buildings and structures, used or intended to be used for residential, commercial, industrial, or other purposes, or any combination of such uses, which are unfit or unsafe to occupy for such purposes or are conducive to ill health, transmission of disease, infant mortality, juvenile delinquency, and crime because of any one or a combination of the following factors:

- (a) Defective design and character of physical construction,
- (b) Faulty interior arrangement and exterior spacing,
- (c) High density of population and overcrowding,
- (d) Inadequate provision for ventilation, light, sanitation, open spaces, and recreation facilities,
- (e) Age, obsolescence, deterioration, dilapidation, mixed character, or shifting of uses,
- (f) Economic dislocation, deterioration, or disuse, resulting from faulty planning,
- (g) Subdividing and sale of lots of irregular form and shape and inadequate size for proper usefulness and development,
- (h) Laying out of lots in disregard of the contours and other physical characteristics of the ground and surrounding conditions,
- (i) Existence of inadequate streets, open spaces, and utilities, and
- (j) Existence of lots or other areas which are subject to being submerged by water.

(emphasis added)

Attention has been drawn to the word "characterize" in order to emphasize that the concept of "blight" is not given a rigid definition. The statutory language of section 11-19-2(10) appears to offer guidelines for legislative bodies and agencies in determining whether or not an area is "blighted" and a suitable subject for redevelopment efforts.

In addition to such guidelines, further assistance offered to such bodies by the language of section 11-19-2(11):

"The words "project area mean an area of a community which is a blighted area within a designated redevelopment survey area, the redevelopment of which is necessary to effectuate the public purposes declared in this act..." (emphasis added)

The language of such purpose may be found in section 11-19-2(9):

"The word "redevelopment" means the planning, development, replanning, redesign, clearance, reconstruction, or rehabilitation, or any combination of these, of all or part of a project area, and the provisions of such residential, commercial, industrial, public, or other structures or spaces as may be appropriate or necessary in the interest of the general welfare." (emphasis added)

Likewise, section 11-19-21 concerning the ordinance by which the redevelopment plan is to be adopted states that such ordinance will include a finding that:

"(a) The project area is a blighted area, the redevelopment of which is necessary to effectuate the public purposes declared in this act.

(b) The redevelopment plan would redevelop the area in conformity with this act and in the interests of the public peace, health, safety and welfare, ...

(e) The carrying out of the redevelopment plan would promote the public peace, health, safety, and welfare of the community and would effectuate the purposes and policy of this act.

Where the statutory language does not more specifically limit or restrict the legislative body or the redevelopment agency in their determinations of what constitutes blight and what is in the interest of the general welfare, those bodies appropriately make such a determination upon a reasonable "basis in fact", and, barring legislative and agency determinations that are capricious, arbitrary and irrational, the scope of judicial review is, in such matters, greatly limited. Nevertheless, plaintiff-appellant argues that the blight which the redevelopment agency determined existed in the project area was not "sufficient" to justify a redevelopment plan for Murray City.

The statute is silent as to what constitutes a sufficient amount of blight, leaving it to the redevelopment agency and the legislative body to determine what is in the interest and general welfare of the community.

In making their determinations, the redevelopment agency and the Murray City Commission had the following information which was a part of the record before them:

1. The MARC '76 study (Exhibit "M"), the details of which have already been extensively covered in defendants' Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, pages 18, 19 and 20. This study, made by the Community Development Staff in 1976 showed 40.44% of commercial building in the survey area requiring either substantial structural repair or total replacement, and 59.37% of the residential buildings needing such repair or replacement.

2. Letter of August 6, 1976 from Jim Watts, the Executive Director of the redevelopment agency, calling the agency's attention to a series of court hearings involving the Rifle Street Trailer Court which was closed down because of improper electrical wiring and numerous health and sanitary violations. This same letter also cited a condemnation of the Gaslight Building for similar violations.

3. Letter of August 10, 1976 from Jim Watts, reviewing for the redevelopment agency the crime statistics for the area. The letter states:

"Within the two areas there is a substantial amount of criminal offenses and a check of the running log from January 1, 1976 until the present indicates that the areas comprise about one-eighth of the city's area and yet it accounts for over one-third of the major crimes committed in the city."

This letter gives the following break-down of crime statistics for the two areas which, as the letter states, represents only one-eighth of the city's geographical area:

Assault and battery	31%
Burglary	32%
Forgery	26%
Robbery	52%
Sex offenses	41%
Auto theft	28%
Vandalism	35%
Prowls	38%
Average	<u>35%</u>

The letter further states:

"The reasons for this high crime situation within the project areas is due, in my estimation, to the following reasons:

- (1) The area is old and the age of the structures becomes a desirable target for crimes against property.
- (2) The area is experiencing a shift in uses, causing a mixed character to exist in the areas designated for redevelopment.
- (3) Since the area is shifting in use and the buildings are quite old we find that it is hard to keep the buildings occupied. The vacant buildings created by this are also appealing to such crimes as vandalism.

4. Letter dated August 7, 1976, from C. G. Gillen, the Murray City Chief of Police, indicating that the project area is a high crime area and that the cause is the changing use and character of the buildings.

"Many of the crimes that are committed in the area happen because of the vacant buildings, and overall deterioration.

We will be unable to change this trend unless we can revitalize the area and make it a viable location, which the proposal would do."

5. Minutes of the Murray City Commission of May 5, 1976 indicating a presentation by Ken Millard, the Planning

Consultant who worked with the MARC '76 members in their study of community conditions and needs, which presentation included maps and models prepared for that study. It was stated that: "This presentation would hopefully enable the Planning and Zoning Commission to correlate their thinking with what can be done." The deposition of Mayor Soffe illustrates the extent to which Murray City went to evaluate the survey area, hold open citizen meetings, and review recommendations from both lay citizen groups and experts.

It is clear from the above, then, that while plaintiff-appellant would prefer to find the above evidence insufficient, the record nevertheless shows that the redevelopment agency had before it ample indications of increasing blight in the Murray community.

Plaintiff-appellant apparently does not recognize that blight is not only a condition, but is also a process. In its incipient stages, the process of blight may be first seen as little more than peeling paint, faulty plumbing and w or broken windows, all commonly associated with economic deterioration, both as its cause and as its effect. In its w or stages, blight may take the form of widespread disease and infant mortality, infestations of vermin, extensive criminal activity or total economic collapse. A blighted area may exhibit one of these symptoms or several, or others not cited.

One would expect the economic factors always to be present. It would be a short-sighted community indeed which, aware that such a process has begun, chooses to wait until its death rate or its crime rate reach the maximum possible level before taking appropriate action.

Yet plaintiff-appellant would have this court believe that the legislature insists that the community may not act until it is a victim of a whole catalogue of plagues. Plaintiff-appellant's reading of section 11-19-2(10)* is not sensible, for it would require us to understand that if, for example, conditions of blight in a community result in an unsanitary water supply causing (cholera? typhus?), the community may not move against such conditions unless it can also show an increase in juvenile delinquency. Such a binding of a community's powers would be ridiculous and the language of 11-19-2(10) cannot be so read. A careful and sensible reading of the statute indicates that the legislature provided for a community to deal with the kind of physical deterioration, of whatever causes, which result in unfit, unsafe, unsanitary, or criminal conditions.

Although there are not Utah cases in point we can find assistance from the California decisions, as Utah's

* Plaintiff-appellant's brief cites 11-19-2(11) - apparently a typographical error.

Act is almost an exact duplication of the one found in that State. The following cases dealt with the issues of the determination of blight and are discussed in more detail in our memorandum in support of Motion for Summary Judgment contained in the file:

Redevelopment Agency v. Hayes, 122 Cal. App. 2d 777, 266 P.2d 105 (1954)

Redevelopment Agency v. Modell, 177 Cal. App. 2d 321, 2 Cal. Repr. 245 (1960)

Levin v. Township of Bridgewater, 57 N.J. 506, 274 A.2d, 45 A.L.R. 3d 1054 (1971)

Grisanti v. Cleveland, 89 Ohio L.A.Gs. 1, 181 N.E. 2d 299 (1962)

Stahl v. Board of Finance, 62 N.J. Super. 562, 163 A2d 396 (1960)

Oliver v. City of Clairton, 374 Pa. 333, 98 A.2d 47 (1953)

Berman v. Parker, 348 U.S. 26, 75 S.Ct. 98 (Dist of Col.)

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT FOR THE DEFENDANT BECAUSE THERE WAS A PLAN FOR EACH PROJECT AREA, IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE UTAH NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT ACT.

Defendant-respondent does not dispute that there are indeed two separate and distinct project areas. From the first stages of investigation and planning, the two areas have been recognized as separate areas and have been so designated as "Area Number 1" and "Area Number 2". The boundary descriptions of each area appear in the newspaper public notices, in the Redevelopment Plan itself and in Ordinance #453 by which the Plan was adopted. It is clear from the entire record that at all times it was anticipated by all parties that two separate geographical areas were to be the targets for redevelopment.

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